#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### **CASE NO. SC07-704**

#### JASON DIRK WALTON,

Appellant, v.

#### STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

NEAL A. DUPREE Capital Collateral Regional Counsel - South

WILLIAM M. HENNIS III Litigation Director, CCRC-South

**ROSEANNE ECKERT Assistant CCRC - South** 

Office of the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel – South 101 N.E. 3<sup>rd</sup> Avenue, Suite 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301

COUNSEL FOR MR. WALTON

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Walton's motion for post-conviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851. The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal:

"R" -- record on direct appeal to this Court;

"RS" – resentencing record on direct appeal;

"PCR-1" & "PCR-2"—records on prior 3.850 appeals to this Court;

"PCR-3" -- record on instant 3.851 appeal to this Court.

#### **REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

Mr. Walton has been sentenced to death. This Court has not hesitated to allow oral argument in other capital cases in a similar procedural posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument would be more than appropriate in this case, given the seriousness of the claims involved and the stakes at issue. Mr. Walton, through counsel, accordingly urges that the Court permit oral argument.

#### STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

#### A. The initial trials.

Jason Dirk Walton was indicted in Pinellas County, Florida on March 2, 1983, with three counts of first-degree murder in the shooting deaths of Gary Peterson, Bobby Martindale and Steven Fridella. R. 1-2. The three men were found dead from shotgun wounds in Pinellas County in 1982 but the crime went unsolved until Robin Fridella (Steven Fridella's wife) and another man contacted police. They had information that one of the men who shot the victims was Terry Van Royal. As a result Van Royal was arrested and gave information that led to the arrest of Richard Cooper. It was a day later that Mr. Walton and his younger brother, Jeff McCoy, were arrested.

Jason Walton was tried and convicted in February 1984. R. 2475-80. During the penalty phase, prosecutors Doug Crow and Allen Geesey introduced the written confessions of the actual killers (Richard Cooper and Terry Van Royal) in an effort to establish that Mr. Walton "ordered" the shootings. Assistant State Attorney Geesey presented the testimony of a regular jailhouse informant, Paul Skalnik, for the purpose of telling the jury *what co-defendant Cooper had told him* about Mr. Walton's alleged role in the crime. Cooper, who was housed in the same cell with Skalnik while awaiting trial, allegedly gave Skalnik information about Mr. Walton:

SKALNIK: Mr. Cooper stated that he had been talking to a man by the name of J.D. Walton who he classified as the **ringleader** of the four men . . .

During this time of discussion with Richard Cooper, Mr. Cooper told me that J.D. Walton had told him they were going to eliminate them.

R. 2555 (emphasis added). Following the jury recommendation, Circuit CourtJudge William Walker sentenced Jason Walton to death on March 14, 1984. R.2117.

The State had already obtained convictions and death sentences against Richard Cooper merely a few weeks before Mr. Walton's first trial. During Cooper's penalty phase, which took place in January of 1984, the Assistant State Attorney Crow scoffed at the idea that Mr. Walton had influence over Cooper:

ASA CROW: I suppose they are going to stand up and say, well, Richard Cooper told the police when he was trying to limit his involvement that the J.D. Walton character, he was Charles Manson and poor Mr. Cooper, it's his fault he's running around killing somebody every time J.D. yells at him. Well that's ludicrous, it absolutely ludicrous, and I don't know how they are going to argue for that based upon the evidence that you have heard that you could be reasonably convinced that he acted under extreme duress telling someone to kill someone, substantial domination is telling somebody or yelling at somebody, is that sufficient justification or mitigation of homicide. That's an incredible proposition.

Cooper, (SC60-65133) R. 1577-1578.

During Cooper's trial, the State questioned whether or not Mr. Walton was even armed during the crime:

ASA CROW: But what is the evidence? What did J.D. Walton have or at least that did this man say that he thought he had. A single shot .357 that wouldn't fire. And what did Richard Cooper have? A 12-gauge shotgun with four shells and possible more.

Now, was he in a position for anybody to tell him what to do? Was he in a position to be afraid of anyone?

Now, he was ready, posed and willing with his finger on the trigger and he made the decision to pull that trigger and to cock it and to pull the trigger again, and aimed it at a second victim and to cock it again and pull the trigger again and aim it at a third victim and then to reload either the last shot or the fourth shot and to come back in the house and pull the trigger again and then cock it again and eject the shell inside the house.

Cooper, R. 1578-1579 (emphasis added).

The State admitted that there was no evidence to support the idea that Mr.

#### Walton was the mastermind:

ASA CROW: Substantial domination or extreme duress those don't exist here and there is no evidence.

Have they produced any evidence to substantiate that statement, any evidence whatsoever, any evidence about [what] J.D. Walton is like? Absolutely not. And I submit to you there is a good reason why they didn't because there is not any evidence there to reasonably convince you.

Cooper, R. 1579 (emphasis added).

Richard Cooper hired mental health expert Dr. Sidney Merin to testify on his behalf at the hearing prior to sentencing. As part of Cooper's defense team, Dr. Merin testified that he viewed the crime or the "incident itself. . . . as a panicked reaction to J.D. Walton's emotional and even hysterical command." Id. at 403. He went on to opine that Cooper "was with a high degree of probability maliciously and destructively duped by J.D. in view of the fact that Richard Cooper is a follower type of personality." <u>Id.</u> at 406. Assistant State Attorney Crow vigorously attacked the basis for the doctor's theories regarding Mr. Walton's personality and role in this crime. Cooper, R. 416-418. The prosecutor similarly questioned the validity of Dr. Merin's belief that "J.D. may well have feigned being distressed or excited or even hysterical" in order to get Cooper to participate in the crime. Id. at 418. Ultimately, the prosecutor was successful in vigorously cross-examining the doctor and discrediting his opinion, thus establishing that Mr. Walton was not responsible for Cooper's actions. Cooper was sentenced to death by Judge Walker on March 14, 1984.

In August of 1984, Assistant State Attorneys Bruce Young and Allen Geesey tried and convicted triggerman Terry Van Royal, this time with Judge Fred

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Cooper was convicted on January 13, 1984. But, Cooper's sentencing hearing took place on March 14, 1984, after the State presented Walton as the "ringleader" who ordered the shootings at Walton's trial. <u>Cooper</u>, Sentencing, R. 389.

L. Bryson presiding. During Van Royal's trial – that took place after Mr. Walton's - the State countered defense counsel's mitigation with the argument that Van Royal was not in fear of "J.D." and that he was not dominated by him. <u>Van Royal</u>, (SC60-66144) R. at 2229; <u>see also</u> 1882, 2240. On September 18, 1986, Van Royal's conviction was affirmed but his death sentence overturned and a life sentence ordered by this Court based on the delay in entering written findings in support of death. <u>Van Royal v. State</u>, 497 So. 2d 625 (Fla. 1986).<sup>2</sup>

#### B. Mr. Walton's resentencing.

On direct appeal, this Court reversed the death sentences and remanded Mr. Walton's case for a new penalty phase because of the introduction of Paul Skalnik's hearsay testimony:

In <u>Bruton v. United States</u>, [391 U.S. 123 (1968)] it was held that a statement or confession of a co-defendant which implicates an accused is not admissible against the accused unless he has an opportunity to confront and cross-examine the co-defendant. To admit such statement is unquestioned error. [citations omitted].

The record supports appellant's assertion that these confessions were the primary evidence relied on by the state in the penalty phase before the jury and that the trial judge considered the confessions in sentencing appellant to death.

Walton v. State, 481 So. 2d 1197, 1201 (Fla. 1985) ("Walton I") (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The oral death sentence was imposed on October 19, 1984, without the benefit of written findings. The trial court did not enter written findings in support of the death penalty until April 15, 1985, long after the notice of appeal was filed on Van Royal's case. Mr. Walton's resentencing jury never knew that Van Royal death sentence was reversed.

In 1986, Assistant State Attorney Crow came out of the gate pointing the finger at Jason Walton as the leader of the group:

On June 18<sup>th</sup>, 1992, in the Highpoint area of Pinellas County, just a few yards away from this courthouse, Pinellas County Sheriff's Office was called to a scene of three terrible crimes. An eight-year-old boy just hours earlier . . . . had called the hospital and then called the Clearwater Police Department with a frantic message, hysterically related that his daddy's dead. The three robbers had come and killed them and ransacked the house. Terrified, he was transferred to the Sheriff's Office, and deputies arrived.

. . .

And there were four people responsible. Richard Cooper, Terry Royal, Jeff McCoy, teenagers had come down with this man, 25-year-old man at the time J.D. Walton robbed and pillaged and murdered the three individuals. The evidence will show, and you will hear from Jeff McCoy, this man's younger brother who is serving a life sentence without parole for 25 years, as a result of being recruited by J.D. Walton in the crime. . . . .

. . .

And it was about two weeks before the murder that he began recruiting his young friends . . . He told them there will be drugs, there will be a lot of money, let's take guns and they did that. Only one person had any information that there might be something there to steal and that was J.D. Walton.

. . .

His gun misfired, and then following his lead Terry Royal and Richard Cooper opened fire resulting in the death of these three young men.

RS. 493-496 (emphasis added) (State's opening argument).

The State re-presented the facts from the guilt phase during the resentencing.

ASA Geesey elicited hearsay testimony from Detective Halliday that Co-

Defendant McCoy told him that Mr. Walton was the leader of the group and the

one who was giving all the orders. RS. 597. During Jeff McCoy's testimony,

Geesey went on to elicit information about how Mr. Walton and the co-defendants

went to get high on drugs after the crimes. During this exchange, the jury was

informed that they usually went to Mr. Walton's because he had a trailer and that

he usually supplied the drugs. RS. 631-32. The State portrayed Mr. Walton as the

ringleader:

ASA GEESEY: Of the four of you, three of you were teenagers and

Jason was the only one in his twenties; isn't that correct?

MCCOY: Yes, sir.

ASA GEESEY: Inside the house where the murders occurred, other than the one time Richard Cooper told you to tie up the victims after

being told to do that by your brother, did anybody ever give any

instructions to you?

MCCOY: Not to me, no, sir.

ASA GEESEY: Did you hear anybody giving orders other than Jason

Walton?

MCCOY: Not where I was at.<sup>3</sup>

RS. 631-32.

<sup>3</sup> The defense objection to the question regarding the orders was overruled.

8

ASA Crow left the jurors with the argument that Mr. Walton was the ringleader who went out recruiting and arming "teenagers" to do his "dirty work:"

But the evidence is damning, and **it points to this man's responsibility as a ringleader**, as a participant, as a person with a motive. For if you ask yourselves who had the motive, who had the reason for these three young people to die, there is only one answer in those four defendants, and the answer is J.D. Walton.

RS. 797 (State's closing argument) (emphasis added).

It was a brutal, bloody, atrocious crime, and . . . it's of this man's making and his cohorts in crime, the three teen-agers he recruited, armed and brought down here with him to execute three men for which only he possessed a motive to kill.

RS. 799 (emphasis added).

. . .two weeks before the murder happened he began recruiting his friends, his friends, teen-agers, 19-year-old Richard Cooper and Terry Royal, and his 18-year-old brother to be participants in the crime.

RS. 800-801.

But J.D. Walton knew how to get there, and he led his recruits there to commit the crimes that he had intended, and he told them and what would you tell young people if you wanted to do something terrible like this, young people involved in drugs and the drug culture, young people who probably needed some money, lots of drugs, big cash, were any found? . . . But it was a carrot in front of these teen-agers that this man helped them urge commit the crimes.

RS. 802.

They planned to bring the weapons down, and J.D. took the handgun, typically he had other people do the dirty work, but unquestionably, he was the ringleader. He was the planner, he was the prime mover among these younger individuals.

RS. 803 (emphasis added).

... Jason Walton arrived last because he made sure as ring leader, as a person most affected, as a person who was identified, that there were no witnesses left and that the vendetta was carried out.

RS. 810.

There was no new evidence to support the State's theory in aggravation of the death sentence. On August 14, 1986, the jury recommended that death sentences be imposed by a vote of 9 to 3. RS. 864. On August 29, 1986, the State presented the trial court and Mr. Walton's lawyer with a lengthy factual and legal memorandum supporting a death sentence RS. 150-162. The State's memorandum presented a number of material "facts" which were not present in this record. Circuit Court Judge Mark McGarry followed the jury's recommendation and imposed death.<sup>4</sup>

# C. <u>Prior post-conviction proceedings.</u>

The initial course of post-conviction litigation was complicated by the State's failure to turn over records to which Mr. Walton was entitled. Mr. Walton filed his initial post-conviction motion on December 17, 1990. PCR-1. 294.

This Court denied relief on Mr. Walton's direct appeal following his resentencing. Walton v. State, 547 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 1989) cert. denied, Walton v. Florida, 110 S. Ct. 759 (1990) ("Walton II"). Although the State's use of psychiatric testimony concerning the child found unhurt at the murder scene was in violation of the Eighth Amendment, and a nonstatutory aggravating factor, this Court found the error to be harmless. This error must be considered cumulatively with the due process violations presented herein.

Following a limited evidentiary hearing on two claims, the lower court denied all of Mr. Walton's claims in 1991. PCR-1. 933-36. An appeal was taken to this Court in which Mr. Walton challenged the denial of the <a href="Strickland/Brady/Giglio">Strickland/Brady/Giglio</a> claim due to the prosecutors' use of inconsistent theories in securing the death sentences against Mr. Walton and a public records claim. PCR-1. 958. In 1993, this Court relinquished jurisdiction to the trial court and ordered it to allow Mr. Walton's public records requests before deciding the merits of the other issues raised. Walton v. Dugger, 634 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 1993).

During the course of the litigation, Mr. Walton alleged that the resentencing proceeding was contaminated with the very same evidence that this Court rejected in Walton I when it remanded for resentencing. PCR-3. 43-55. Mr. Walton alleged that Judge McGarry's written sentencing order relied on facts that were not in evidence and that this Court had already determined that the facts were inadmissible and attributable only to Richard Cooper and Paul Skalnik. PCR-3. 45. The Order states:

The evidence indicates Jason D. Walton then **grabbed** one of the victims by the hair and attempted to fire the .357 at him; the gun misfired. Shortly afterward, Cooper and Royal opened fire . . . All of the victims in the ghastly incident died as a result of gunfire brought down upon them through the leadership of the defendant, Jason D. Walton.

RS. 198 (emphasis added).

In 1998, Mr. Walton alleged that Paul Skalnik is and was a state agent:

This case is particularly distressing because it calls into question the conduct of the State and its bizarre relationship with Paul Emil Skalnik. As if it were not enough that this resentencing was infected with non-record extraneous matter, it has now been ascertained that much of the information supplied by Mr. Skalnik was manufactured.

PCR-3. 91 (Third Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence with Special Request for Leave to Amend filed on November 6, 1998). Mr. Walton went on to allege the significant problems that occurred as a result of the State's use of Paul Skalnik, as well as the facts that point to the allegation that the police were feeding him information:

Mr. Skalnik was in possession of facts which raised further the question of his role in the system. According to Mr. Skalnik, he was isolated from the outside world, was isolated from other prisoners, has no knowledge of the defendants, and had no contact with any witnesses in the case. On June 14, 1983, Mr. Skalnik gave a taped statement outlining all of his knowledge in the case as allegedly related to him by Mr. Cooper. Eight months later, however, Mr. Skalnik came to know a remarkable piece of information known only to the detectives in the case and eight-year-old Chris Fridella. This information was not contained in Mr. Skalnik's lengthy statement. This information can only be found in one document: on one page in the police reports in police custody.

PCR-3. 94-95.

Mr. Walton detailed Paul Skalnik's role as a state agent in other cases as well:

One thing is certain. Before the Highpoint Murders, Mr. Skalnik had been instrumental in securing for the State convictions in over thirty cases. As of 1984, because of his intense participation as an informant, he was granted special privileges and protection and housed in the Pinellas County jail.

The fine line between Paul Skalnik, the informant, and the State blurred. They became one. There are more incidents in this case and in other cases which show that Mr. Skalnik and the State mutually shared facts, such facts lending credibility to Mr. Skalnik's testimony. The various conversations between Skalnik and State authorities oftentimes resulted in Mr. Skalnik portraying the State's theory of the case. For instance, in Mr. Walton's first penalty phase, Mr. Skalnik not only set forth the State's theory of the case, he added additional elements of premeditation that are refuted by all of the evidence in the record.

#### PCR-3. 96-97.

After being denied relief in the circuit court following the second round of evidentiary hearings, Mr. Walton filed a supplement to the initial brief that had been filed in 1992. On appeal, Mr. Walton raised several issues, including the following: (1) the due process violation committed by the trial court in relying on unreliable, non-record facts concerning Mr. Walton's participation that were presented during the first penalty phase in support of the death sentences; (2) the Brady violation due to the State's failure to turn over information about a witness that could have been used to show that Mr. Walton was not the mastermind of these crimes; (3) the trial court's failure to consider the newly discovered evidence of Van Royal's testimony that also would have demonstrated that Mr. Walton was

not the "ringleader;" (4) the issue of disparate treatment because Van Royal, one of the shooters, received a life sentence; and (5) the trial court error in allowing a State mental health expert to testify against Mr. Walton in post-conviction due to his prior relationship with co-defendant Cooper. This Court affirmed the denial of post-conviction relief. Walton v. State, 847 So. 2d 438 (2003).

#### D. <u>Current post-conviction litigation.</u>

After Mr. Walton filed his first habeas corpus petition in federal court, the United States Supreme Court rendered its decision in Bradshaw v. Stumpf, 125 S. Ct. 2398 (2005).<sup>5</sup> In Bradshaw v. Stumpf, the United States Supreme Court recognized that a prosecutor's use of inconsistent and irreconcilable theories to secure a death sentence against separately tried co-defendants can violate due process. Additionally, Mr. Walton learned about new witnesses who could establish what Mr. Walton has been alleging for fifteen years: that Paul Skalnik is and was a state agent. Based on the U.S. Supreme Court precedent and the discovery of newly discovered evidence that supported the previously alleged Brady claims, Mr. Walton decided to file a successive motion for post-conviction relief pursuant to Rule 3.851 on February 10, 2006, PCR-3, 1-25.

\_

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