IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JASON DIRK WALTON,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC07-704 Lower Tribunal No. CRC83-0630CFANO

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE MARIA DIAMANDIS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 069116
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Fotopoulos and his co-defendant, Deidre Hunt. This court finds the <u>Fotopoulos</u> opinion to be inapposite.[¹³] In that case, the State argued in Hunt's trial that she was a willing participant to the murders, did not act under duress, and was not dominated by Fotopoulos. However, the State directly contradicted that theory in Fotopoulos's trial by portraying Hunt as a battered woman who had been dominated by Fotopoulos. As outlined above, there was no such direct contradiction in the State's theories in the Walton, Cooper, and Van Royal trials.

Based on the foregoing record evidence, it is clear to this court that there were no inconsistencies in the State's theories in the Walton, Cooper, and Van Royal trials which would constitute a due process violation in this case. Raleigh v. State, 932 So. 2d 1054, 1065-67 (Fla. 2006); Jennings v. State, 718 So. 2d 144, 154 (Fla. 1998). Accordingly, this claim is denied.

(PCR 5/631-34)(emphasis supplied).

For the following reasons, Walton's wholesale reliance on Bradshaw v. Stumpf, 545 U.S. 175 (2005) is misplaced; and the trial court correctly denied Walton's "inconsistent theories" claim as untimely, successive, procedurally barred, and, alternatively, without merit. In Bradshaw, the criminal defendant, Stumpf entered a guilty plea to a capital murder committed during a robbery. Id. at 179. At Stumpf's sentencing hearing, the prosecutor argued that Stumpf was the triggerman and also argued that the death penalty was appropriate even if

After the trial court below rejected Walton's reliance on the federal district court's decision in <u>Fotopoulos</u>, the Eleventh Circuit reversed the district court's order in <u>Fotopoulos</u>. See, <u>Fotopoulos v. Secretary, Department of Corrections</u>, 516 F. 3d 1229 (2008).

Stumpf was not the shooter, "because the circumstances of the robbery provided a basis from which to infer Stumpf's intent to cause death." Id. at 180. Stumpf received a death sentence. After Stumpf was sentenced, the State then obtained information that Stumpf's co-defendant, Wesley, admitted to a fellow inmate that he had shot the victim during the robbery. The prosecution used the inmate's testimony in order to seek the death penalty against Wesley. At Wesley's trial, Wesley emphasized the prosecutor's contradictory position in Stumpf's trial and sentencing, and Wesley was sentenced to life imprisonment. Id.

In <u>Bradshaw</u>, the Supreme Court concluded that "the precise identity of the triggerman was immaterial to Stumpf's conviction for aggravated murder" and reversed the Sixth Circuit's habeas decision invalidating Stumpf's guilty plea based on the new evidence. <u>Id</u>. at 187. However, the Supreme Court determined that "it is at least arguable that the sentencing panel's conclusion about Stumpf's principal role in the offense was material to its sentencing determination." <u>Id</u>. Because it was "not clear whether the Court of Appeals would have concluded that Stumpf was entitled to resentencing had the court not also considered the conviction invalid," the Supreme Court remanded for reconsideration of the effect of the inconsistencies on the sentence. Id.

In this case, the trial court properly found no new fundamental constitutional right had been established Bradshaw and, therefore, Walton's claim was untimely and procedurally barred under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851. Furthermore, the Eleventh Circuit recently held in Fotopoulos v. Secretary, Department of Corrections, 516 F.3d 1229 (2008), "the Bradshaw Court did not hold that the use of inconsistent theories in the prosecution of two defendants violates due process." Fotopoulos, 516 F.3d at 1235 (emphasis supplied). Walton's "inconsistent theories" claim is predicated solely on the face of the trial record. Thus, the trial court correctly Walton's claim was untimely, successive, ruled that procedurally barred in post conviction. Furthermore, as noted by the trial court, Walton pursued a variation of this same argument as an ineffective assistance claim in his prior post conviction proceeding (PCR 5/633). Relief was denied by the trial court and this Court affirmed on appeal and explained:

Walton first contends that his counsel rendered ineffective assistance because he did not attempt to rebut the prosecution's arguments and evidence tending to show that Walton organized and led the robbery that ended in the murders here. In support of this assertion, Walton identifies certain statements made by the State's attorney during codefendant Cooper's trial in which the State argued that Cooper was not under the direction of Walton. In particular, Walton cites two statements during the prosecution's closing argument in which the State asserted that it was "absolutely ludicrous" to say that Walton was at fault for Cooper's actions, and there was no evidence to

support the "incredible proposition" that Walton dominated Cooper during the crime.

* * *

[T]he two small statements ignored by trial the counsel in instant somewhat case are Thus, under the reasoning recently insignificant. adopted by this Court in Fotopoulos, Walton has failed to make the required showing to fulfill the Strickland performance prong. Additionally, Walton cannot show prejudice here. Evidence introduced at Walton's trial showed that Walton originated the plan to rob the victims on a rainy night, Walton armed the group prior to the robbery, and Walton was the only defendant involved who knew the location of the victims' house. See Walton II, 547 So. 2d at 623-24. In the face of this overwhelming evidence, it is clear that the introduction of two statements by a state attorney in a codefendant's trial would not have been overly non-introduction Certainly, evidence does not undermine our confidence in the outcome.

Walton IV, 847 So. 2d at 456 (emphasis supplied).

identical Now, Walton attempts to resurrect these statements under the guise of an "inconsistent theories of prosecution" claim. Appellant's Initial Brief at 26. However, claims raised and disposed of in Walton's first 3.850 are procedurally barred from consideration in this successive motion. Francis v. Barton, 581 So. 2d 583, 584 (Fla. 1991); see 2d 1336 also Valle v. State, 705 So. 1331, (Fla. 1997)(inappropriate to use different argument to relitigate same issue).

Furthermore, Walton's current claim of alleged "inconsistent theories of prosecution" is not one which is based

on a particularly new or novel legal theory. To the contrary, variations of alleged "inconsistent theories of prosecution" claims have been prevalent during the preceding twenty years. See Drake v. Kemp, 762 F.2d 1449 (11th Cir. 1985) (en banc) (Clark, J., specially concurring), cert. denied, 478 U.S. 1020 (1986); Parker v. Singletary, 974 F.2d 1562, 1577 (11th Cir. 1992); Smith v. Groose, 205 F.3d 1045 (8th Cir. 2000); Jennings v. State, 718 So. 2d 144, 154 (Fla. 1998) (ruling, on direct appeal, that the fact that the State argued in co-defendant Graves' trial that Graves was the "leader" in the robbery was not necessarily inconsistent with the argument (and the trial court's finding) that Jennings was the actual murderer). such, Walton could have raised this same issue in his appeal after resentencing. "Issues which either were or could have been litigated at trial and upon direct appeal are not cognizable through collateral attack." Smith v. State, 445 So. 2d 323, 325 (Fla. 1983).

Furthermore, Walton's reliance on Raleigh v. State, 932 So. 2d 1054 (Fla. 2006) and Van Poyck v. State, 961 So. 2d 220 (Fla. 2007) is misplaced for the following reasons. First, unlike the instant successive post conviction proceedings, Raleigh involved a first Rule 3.851 post conviction proceeding which was based, in part, on an intertwined claim under Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972). Second, in Raleigh, this Court found no

similar due process concerns; and, unlike Stumpf, the State did not first try Raleigh as the principal actor in the victim's murder and then inconsistently prosecute a co-defendant as the principal actor in the same death. Instead, the State argued consistently in both trials that Raleigh was a principal actor in the victim's death. Raleigh, 932 So. 2d at 1066. although Van Poyck admittedly involved a successive motion to vacate, this Court had previously determined, in Van Poyck's prior post conviction case, that "new evidence" on the identity of the triggerman would not create a reasonable probability of a In squarely rejecting Van Poyck's claim that lesser sentence. Court's previous post conviction ruling should reconsidered in light of Bradshaw, this Court explained:

Bradshaw is largely limited to its facts and procedural posture. Its mandate was reconsider the effect of the new evidence on the sentence, an issue the lower court had not reached because it had erroneously reversed the conviction. In addition, Bradshaw involves a due process claim grounded in inconsistent positions taken by the prosecution in trials of codefendants, which is not an aspect of this case. [n4] To the extent that Bradshaw has any bearing on this case, it stands for the proposition that new evidence concerning the identity of the triggerman is "material" to a death sentencing determination. This Court's 2005 opinion in this case includes the same acknowledgment: We do not hold . . it makes no difference in the sentencing process which of two codefendants actually Rather, we determine only that committed the killing. under the circumstances of this case involving a murder of a prison guard in a brutal armed attack planned by Van Poyck and carried out with Valdez, DNA evidence indicating that Van Poyck was

triggerman would not have created a reasonable probability of a lesser sentence. <u>Van Poyck</u> IV, 908 So. 2d at 330. <u>Therefore, Bradshaw does not require</u> reconsideration of the 2005 decision.

Van Poyck, 961 So. 2d at 227 (emphasis supplied)

Lastly, Walton's "inconsistent theories" claim is also without merit. As the trial held, the State's arguments were First of all, the State never advanced not inconsistent. inconsistent theories as to the triggerman's identity. As the trial court recognized below, in both the Cooper and Van Royal trials, the defense asked for and received (over the State's argument) a charge regarding the mitigating circumstance of acting under duress or domination (PCR 7/1149-52, 1220, 9/1526, Their respective juries were instructed that they could 1613). consider as a mitigating circumstance whether the Cooper and Van Royal acted under duress or under the domination of Walton (PCR 7/1220, 9/1613). It was plainly proper for the State to argue that Cooper and Von Royal were not entitled to this statutory This is not inconsistent with the State's argument mitigation. that Walton was guilty as the perpetrator who planned, led and facilitated these murders, (even though he did not fire any of the fatal shots). As this Court found "extensive evidence was before the trial court which supports its conclusions regarding Walton's leadership of the criminal venture which resulted in the deaths of three victims." Walton IV, 847 So. 2d at 448.

In an attempt to give credence to his procedurally-barred Bradshaw claim, Walton alleges inconsistent theories used by the State tainted the resentencing proceeding by (1) inserting facts from the first trial into the court's resentencing order; (2) suppressing information regarding Robin Fridella; (3) improperly attempting to discredit co-defendant Van Royal; and (4) using expert Dr. Merin. Appellant's Initial Brief at 27-28. Each of these issues was raised and rejected in Walton's prior post conviction proceedings. As such, they are procedurally barred from consideration in this successive motion. Francis, 581 So. 2d at 584.

Regarding Walton's claim concerning the sentencing order, the trial court found:

The State correctly notes that the argument regarding the "contamination" of the second sentencing order by Skalnik's testimony was previously raised by the Defendant in his Third Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence, but in the context of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. This claim was denied by this court and this court's denial was affirmed by the Florida Supreme Court. In affirming this court's decision, the Supreme Court noted that, although there was some mention in the trial court's resentencing order of Defendant Walton grabbing the victim's hair, which did not appear in the record on resentencing, "[T]he inclusion of one errant phrase by the trial court in its sentencing order is not significant evidence that the trial court relied upon the original confessions of McCoy and Cooper [and, thus, the testimony of Skalnik] sentencing Walton to death. Clearly, taken conjunction with the presence of the overwhelming evidence before the court supporting its conclusions Walton's leadership role in the

planning, this mistaken statement by the trial court within its final order was harmless. Certainly, the trial court's final sentencing decision did not hinge upon whether Walton actually placed his hands upon a victim's hair or not. Thus, this error did not contribute to Walton's sentence, and we conclude that it is harmless under State v. Diguilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986)." Walton v. State, 847 So. 2d 438, 448 (Fla. 2003).

(PCR 5/630-31)(emphasis supplied).

Regarding Walton's Robin Fridella claim, Walton concedes "[t]his Court considered and rejected Mr. Walton's Brady claim regarding [Robin Fridella] in his appeal of the 3.850." He adds though "these facts were only being presented to establish the State's use of inconsistent theories infected the entire process." Appellant's Initial Brief at 34 n. 9. Again this claim, raised and disposed of in Walton's first proceeding, 14 is procedurally barred from consideration in this successive motion. Francis, 581 So. 2d at 584. successive attempt to inject and relitigate this claim under the guise of establishing an inconsistent theories claim should be rejected. Valle, 705 So. 2d at 1336; see also Kight v. Dugger, 574 So. 2d 1066, 1073 (Fla. 1990) (procedural bar cannot be avoided by couching barred claim in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel).

Walton also appears to argue that the State has taken inconsistent positions regarding Van Royal's credibility and

¹⁴ Walton IV, 847 So. 2d at 452-54.

such supports his Bradshaw claim. 15 Specifically, Walton asserts the State took the "untenable position that a 'co-defendant's version [Walton was not the ringleader] of how the crime occurred is not newly discovered evidence'". Appellant's Initial Brief at 41. Walton argues this is inconsistent with the State arguing Walton was the ringleader. First, the State's argument in post conviction proceedings concerning the same defendant certainly does not support an inconsistent theories claim under Bradshaw. Second, Van Royal never testified at Walton's resentencing. Furthermore, in rejecting Walton's newly discovered evidence claim, this Court stated "[w]hat Walton has presented as 'newly discovered evidence' is simply a new version of the events from a witness/participant [Van Royal] who presented multiple stories since the time of the occurrence of the events themselves." Walton IV, 847 So 2d 454-455. Court later referred to Van Royal as an "extremely untrustworthy person". Walton IV, 847 So. 2d at 455.

Lastly, with regard to Walton's claim that the State's use of Dr. Merin (who was appointed as an expert to co-defendant Cooper) was a conflict of interest that violated his constitutional rights, this Court previously held that "[w]hile

¹⁵ In his motion below, Walton recognized the Van Royal claim was considered and rejected by this Court but presented the "facts" for the purpose of demonstrating the due process violation in the context of Bradshaw v. Stumpf." (PCR 1/17 n. 17).

it was error for the trial court to allow a mental health professional with an obvious conflict of interest to testify during the post conviction proceedings below, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because the trial court did not actually rely upon Merin's testimony in reaching its decision." Walton IV, 847 So. 2d at 446; PCR 5/631-32 n.3 (order rejecting Dr. Merin claim barred). Walton's successive claims regarding the sentencing order, Robin Fridella, Van Royal and Dr. Merin are procedurally barred, without merit, and do not offer Walton any legitimate basis for successive post conviction consideration under Bradshaw. The trial court's order summarily denying Walton's successive motion to vacate should be affirmed.

ISSUE II

THE PAUL SKALNICK CLAIM

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